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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Big Spring Church is located a block west of the main north-south
axis of the town, Washington Street, at the head of a ravine in
which the Spring (after which the church was named) is located.
It was on a far corner of the same block which contained the
Public Square and Courthouse. (See maps of 1794 and 1877) Rose
Street, which the structure faces, continues up a short hill to the
west and becomes an attractive residential neighborhood of large
mid- and late Victorian houses; to the south are intrusive parking
lots and commercial structures, although farther east across
Washington Street are several blocks of still older structures, some
of them contemporary with the church building.

In a report entitled, "A Tidewater Colonial Building in Versailles,"
presented to the Woodford County Historical Society in 1969, Clay
Lancaster gave his opinion of the architectural history and sources
of the building: " The 150-year-old Baptist Meeting House on Rose
Hill in Versailles belongs to the category of such fine 18th-century
buildings in Virginia as Pohick Church (where Washington worshiped)
in Fairfax County, the brick public buildings and residences of
Williamsburg, and great plantation houses along the James River.
The Kentucky church relates to these pre-Revolutionary monuments
of the Old Dominion in style, straightforward design, good sense of
scale and proportion, simplicity of details, sound construction, and
excellence of craftmanship.

" The Baptist Meeting House measures approximately 47 x 32 feet and
is five-bayed on the longer sides and three-bayed on the ends.
Originally it had four equisized doorways with transoms, two on the
south front and one each on the east and north. The south and east
walls were considered the principal facades, as here the bricks are
laid in Flemish bond and wedge-shaped voussoirs are set above the
doors and windows, the other two walls having common-bond
brickwork that continues horizontally over the openings. Window

building was covered by a hipped roof with a continuous horizontal
cornice all around.

"The plan of the meeting house was typical of its kind, consisting of
a single rectangular auditorium with upper gallery 11 1/2 feet deep
around the south, east, and north sides. The stairs to the balcony

glass is 10 by 12 inches, with 9-over-6-paned sashes on the main level
and 6-over-6-paned sashes above. All windows were shuttered. The

were in the northeast corner, and there was no window on the lower
level behind the stairway in the north wall. The pulpit was centered
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Big Spring Church, originally a Baptist meeting house, is
important not only because of its early construction, but also
because  of its association with .a significant movement in church
history in Kentucky. Campbellism was to result in the establish-
ment of a new Protestant denomination, the Disciples of Christ,
or Christian Church.

Big Spring Church was constructed in 1819 in the town of Versailles
founded in 1792 to serve as a county seat as well as a center of
trade. Located in an area just west of Lexington, Kentucky,
Versailles remained the only incorporated town in Woodford County
from 1792 to 1835.

By 1792 and the founding of Versailles, there were already many
Baptists in the State, although the first Baptist church was not
constructed until 1781. After 1792, however, particularly as a
result of heavy migration from Virginia, numerous other Baptist
churches were built.

The Big Spring Church was organized in 1813 and was primarily the
work of Jacob Creath, Sr., a minister then at nearby Clear Creek,
and his nephew Jacob Creath, Jr.  Jacob Creath, Sr. (1777-1854),
originally from Nova Scotia, moved with his family to Virginia at
an early age. He was ordained a Baptist minister in 1798 and
moved to Lexington five years later when he was offered the
pastorship of the Town Fork Church. During the next few years,
before coming to Versailles, Creath was affiliated with various
other churches in the same general area.

Although not well educated, Creath was a gifted speaker. It is
said Henry Clay thought him the finest natural orator he had ever
heard. He possessed great persuasive powers and in one year
during the Great Revival period of 1827-1830 he was credited with
converting 1400 people.

b
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Armstrong, O. K. and Armstrong, Marjerie M, The Indomitable
Baptists. Garden City, New York: Danbleday & Co., 1967,
pp. 161-162.

Berry, Mattie L.. A Sketch of the Christian Church at Versailles
Kentucky. Versailles: Woodford Sun Co., 1930, p. 5-14.
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on the [long] west side, facing the east doorway; and directly behind
the pulpit, instead of two-tiered fenestration as elsewhere, a single
15-paned window was placed halfway between the two levels. The

old Methodist-Episcopal Meeting House (1822--now razed) on Church
Street in Lexington had this same device, though the pulpit was at the
short end and the balcony, therefore, stretched across the long sides
and connected at the far end.

"Built to last, the walls of the church on Rose Hill are three bricks
thick. Some of the roof timbers are 8 inches across and 12 inches
deep. The building has survived two major vicissitudes, the first
when it changed hands and served as a meeting place for the Disciples
of Christ about 1830, and the second when it became a residence after
1854. The first may have been responsible for the cavernous entrance
once centered on the south front, which would have entailed the closing
up of the two original doorways in this wall, and the insertion of the
former middle window from the front in place of the east doorway.

"Mid-century renovation was more drastic, desecrating the building by
adding the ugly, steep gable with ridiculous brackets, entrance with
side lights, triple window above, and enlarging and making use of new
frames in the windows of the street facade. Three windows were filled
in on the east flank and four on the west, including the intermediary
one over the pulpit. A new opening was cut on this side, and three
windows were obliterated and a new door opened on the back. Refined
exterior window sills with nosing were replaced by crude rectangular
slabs at this time. The interior was [cut] into a stairhall and rooms,
and chimneys for fireplaces were run up through the roof.

"In spite of the alterations enumerated, the old Baptist Meeting House
retains its sturdy form and the essence of its pleasing lines, That
which has been added has little to do with the construction of the
building and could be taken away without damage, and the original
features that are gone could be replaced without guesswork. These
are both fortunate factors."

The structure has been restored to its presumed original form
according to Mr. Lancaster's close analysis and direction since 1969.
The exterior restoration was completed in 1974 with work still in
progress on the interior.

GPO 921.724
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The Victorian south gable (with its retardataire stripped Palladian
window) and Italianate brackets have been removed, returning the roof
to its original hipped form (with new sheathing).

The entrance openings have been returned to their original proportions,
and the former middle front window replaced. New window frames have
been installed and new sash, copied from two original sashes found in
the building. New door frames have been copied from existing ones;
new doors and other details are based on Kentucky designsof the period.
Reconstruction of the pulpit, balcony, and inside stairs is based on
physical evidence (see photo taken during restoration). Sills have

not been replaced.

As Lancaster points out, the overall design of the structure as he
reconstructs its original form was directly indebted to Virginia
Georgian prototypes. The restoration itself is a model of ingenuity
and good taste. ~
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Creath's talents were put to use in the organization of the Big Spring
congregation. The church grew rapidly in numbers and by 1819

its members could afford to build the meeting house which now stands
at 121 Rose Hill.

During the 1820s Creath and his congregation became adherents of the
ideas and principles then being espoused by former Presbyterian
minister, Alexander Campbell (1787-1866). Campbell advocated a
return to a more primitive Christianity, eliminating societies and
groups within the congregation which, he thought, would ultimately
result in uniting all Christendom. He believed the individual church
was the highest and only ecclesiastical organization recognized in the
New Testament and it had no need of associations or conferences.
Objections to missions, Bible and tract societies, church constitutions,
theological schools and an educational ministry concluded in his
separation from existing denominations and the founding of a new
church, called the Disciples of Christ or Christian Church. His
followers were most commonly known as Campbellites.

In the early 19th century Campbell drew most of his support from the
ranks of the Baptist Church. During the period 1829-1832 the storm

broke and a good many members permanently severed ties with

their former churches. Although the Baptists were not severely affected
by the schism, it was still "the greatest secession from the Baptist
ranks ever known in their history in Kentucky." (Collins, p. 419)

Creath and his congregation were among those who joined the
Campbellites and in 1830 were cast out from the Baptist Elkhorn
Association. The Versailles church then became the independent
Disciples of Christ Church. At this time physical changes were made
in the form of the church, in accordance with Campbell's views.

Also of interest is the fact that at one time the church had on its roll
a number of blacks, slaves who attended services with their masters.
They sat in the gallery which they reached by a stairway coming down
to the pavement. After the Civil War, the Negroes withdrew and built
churches of their own.

The structure became a residence after 1854 when a new church buildin g
was constructed. 120 years later an exemplary restoration has returne

the structure as closely as possible to its original form.
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